# S192828

No.

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

#### CITY OF LOS ANGELES,

Petitioner,

v.

## SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES,

Respondent.

SUPREME COURT 

#### ENGINEERS AND ARCHITECTS ASSOCIATION,

Petitioner and Real Party in Interest

MAY - 4 7991

Court of Appeal of the State of California Second Appellate District, Division 3 Case No. B228732

Frederick AL Charles Clerk

Appeal from Superior Court of Los Angeles Honorable Gregory Alarcon Civil Case No. BS126192

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

Gary M. Messing, No. 075363 Gregg McLean Adam, No. 203436 Jonathan Yank, No. 215495 Gonzalo C. Martinez, No. 231724 CARROLL, BURDÍCK

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

This petition raises a question central to the right of all California public employees and their unions to enforce arbitration clauses in their collective bargaining agreements in disputes over the interpretation and application of their contract-bound terms and conditions of employment. Specifically:

Whether a charter city may arbitrate disputes over collectively-bargained wage and hour provisions without unlawfully delegating its discretionary budgeting and salary-setting authority to the arbitrator?

#### II

#### INTRODUCTION

In a published decision that will upend the law of public sector labor-management relations, the Second District Court of Appeal held that it was unlawful for the City of Los Angeles ("the City"), acting as an employer governed by the Meyers-Milias-Brown Act<sup>1</sup> ("MMBA"), to agree

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Meyers-Milias-Brown Act, Government Code § 3500 et seq., governs labor relations between a municipality and a labor union representing its employees. It requires the parties to bargain in good faith in an attempt to reach agreement on wages, hours, and terms and conditions of employment. (Gov. Code § 3505.) It further dictates that, when agreement is reached, it shall be reduced to a written "memorandum of understanding," which becomes binding upon the parties when ratified by the union and the municipality's governing body. (Gov. § 3505.1; *Voters for Responsible Retirement v. Bd. of Supervisors* (1994) 8 Cal.4th 765, 781.)

to arbitrate whether its unilateral imposition of furloughs on Petitioner's members violated the parties' collectively-bargained memorandum of understanding ("MOU" or "contract")<sup>2</sup>. The court reasoned that "any agreement to arbitrate the issue of furloughs would constitute an improper delegation of discretionary policymaking power vested in the City Council." (Slip Op. at pp. 3, 26 [Attachment 1 hereto].) That holding contravenes long-established California law and policy on the enforceability of grievance arbitration provisions, and would *presumably* require public employees to instead file lawsuits to enforce labor agreements. But that begs the following question: If, as the court of appeal found, an arbitrator ruling on the grievance would be unlawfully exercising legislative powers reserved to a charter city, why would the same conclusion not extend to prevent review by a court, thereby precluding any enforcement of the MOU?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The potentially-disastrous and far-reaching consequences of the court of appeal's decision to public sector collective bargaining in California cannot be overstated. Although this case arises from a dispute between an employer and a union governed by the MMBA, there is nothing in the decision that would limit its application to the MMBA. Thus, the court of appeal's rationale and holding would appear to apply equally to collective bargaining governed by other State labor-relations statutes, such as the Ralph C. Dills Act (Gov. Code § 3512 et seq.—governing State labor relations), the Educational Employment Relations Act (Gov. Code § 3540 et seq.—governing public school labor relations), the Higher Education Employer–Employee Relations Act (Gov. Code § 3560 et seq.—governing public university labor relations), and others. The rights of millions of public employees are at stake.

The court of appeal reached this conclusion by committing a number of fundamental interpretive errors. First, it reached its result in an analytical vacuum, disregarding the long-settled principle that the procedures delineated in the MMBA and collective bargaining agreements reached thereunder are enforceable and preempt contradictory local municipal ordinances.

Second, it conflated "grievance arbitration" with "interest arbitration." But the distinction between these two types of arbitrations is well-established in California law: in grievance arbitration, the arbitrator performs a purely quasi-judicial function of interpreting and enforcing the terms of the parties' existing contract; in *interest arbitration*, the arbitrator performs a legislative function by deciding what terms will govern the parties' future relations and conduct. (County of Sonoma v. Superior Court (2009) 173 Cal.App.4th 322, 341–342.) Submission of a dispute over existing workweek and salary agreements to grievance arbitration in no way involves delegation or application of discretionary legislative power. Rather, it involves the quasi-judicial function of determining whether and how the employer has already exercised its discretionary power by ratifying a labor contract, and then determining whether subsequent actions by the employer have violated that existing labor agreement.

Third, the court of appeal's holding is premised on a deeply flawed view of this particular case. Because the City has *already* exercised

Petitioner, the narrow question presented by this case is whether the *subsequent* discretionary policy-making act of the City in imposing furloughs may, in accordance with those contracts, be examined by an arbitrator to determine whether it violated the MOUs' wage and hour provisions. The court of appeal found that allowing such arbitral review would unlawfully delegate the City's budgetary and salary-setting authority to an arbitrator. (Slip Op. at pp. 3, 26.) But there was no unlawful delegation because the City "did not delegate [its] discretion but [rather] exercised it" itself. (*Taylor v. Crane* (1979) 24 Cal.3d 442, 452 n.9.)
Under established precedent, the grievances Petitioner seeks to arbitrate do not involve any unlawful delegation of "policymaking power."

This Court should grant review. The court of appeal's published decision, if allowed to stand, creates a sweeping and unacknowledged exception to grievance arbitration clauses any time an employee's grievance "impacts policy matters." (Slip Op. at p. 24.) That vague formulation gives trial courts and parties no guidance when an arbitration clause is enforceable because arbitration over terms and conditions of employment will always, however indirectly, impact matters of public policy. The court of appeal's decision encourages public employers to legislate their way out of MOUs and shield themselves from arbitral

review, in contravention of the strong public policy of averting labor strife and favoring resolution of labor disputes through arbitration.

Furthermore, the decision is so broadly written that it calls into question whether an MOU provision that "impacts policy matters" can even be enforced in court. Needless to say, if no enforcement mechanism is available, collective bargaining is likely to become a meaningless endeavor and labor strife far more prevalent.

#### Ш

#### FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

Petitioner Engineers & Architects Association ("EAA") is the recognized representative for approximately 5,246 employees working for the City of Los Angeles in numerous bargaining units. (AA 1:2.) The wages, hours, and terms and conditions of employment of these employees are governed by four MOUs entered into between Petitioner and the City Mayor. (AA 1:86 – 2:338.) These MOUs were all duly ratified by the City Council. (*Id.*) Each of the MOUs contains substantive provisions setting forth a standard 40-hour workweek (Article 5.1) and salary schedules based on the 40-hour work week (Article 6.1). (See, e.g., AA 1:112-114.)

### A. The Parties' Agreements Contain Arbitration Provisions Governing Disputes Arising From Interpretation of the MOUs

The MOUs also contain grievance and arbitration procedures designed to resolve disputes involving the interpretation, application, and

scope of the MOUs. The arbitration clause, set forth in Section I of Article 3.1 of the MOUs, defines a "grievance" as follows:

A grievance is defined as any dispute concerning the interpretation or application of this written MOU or departmental rules and regulations governing personnel practices or working conditions applicable to employees covered by this MOU. An impasse in meeting and conferring upon the terms of a proposed MOU is not a grievance.

(See, e.g., AA 1:103 [emphases added].)

Each MOU's broad arbitration clause is modeled after the Los Angeles Employee Relations Ordinance ("ERO") as set forth in the Los Angeles Administrative Code. (See ERO Section 4.865, subd. (a)—Attachment 2 hereto.) Critically, the ERO mandates that the City and unions create and abide by a grievance and arbitration procedure through which the parties must resolve "all grievances." (Id.) ERO Section 4.801 defines a "grievance" as "[a]ny dispute concerning the interpretation or application of a written memorandum of understanding or of departmental rules and regulations governing personnel practices or working conditions." (See ERO Section 4.801 [Definition of Terms]—Attachment 2 hereto.)

## B. The City Unilaterally Furloughed Petitioner's Members By Enacting an Ordinance

On May 18, 2009, the City Council declared a fiscal emergency and adopted an emergency resolution and ordinance proposed by the Mayor, which included "mandatory furloughs for virtually all civilian City

employees." (City's RJN³, Ex. 14, attachment I of Ex. A [May 12, 2009 letter from Mayor to City Council], attachment II [furloughs resolution], attachment III [furloughs ordinance].) Specifically, the resolution and ordinance included a provision permitting the Mayor to adopt a mandatory furlough of City employees for up to 26 days from July 1, 2009 through June 30, 2010. (*Ibid.*) All City departments (excluding proprietary departments) were to be closed on the second and fourth Friday of each month, with two additional furlough days to be determined later. (*Ibid.*; see also City's Petition for Writ of Mandate ("PWM") ¶ 14.)

The City met and conferred with EAA on two separate occasions, but it would only discuss the impact of the City's furloughs plan, not the decision to furlough employees. (City's RJN Ex. 14 ¶¶ 13-15.) The City had engaged in separate negotiations with a Coalition of City Unions representing other City's employees. (*Id.* at ¶ 11; PWM ¶ 20.) Those negotiations resulted in an agreement to stay the furloughs as to Coalition-represented employees. (*Id.* at ¶¶ 7-10; PWM ¶ 24.) The City did not offer the same terms of the Coalition agreement to EAA; instead it offered only to hold furloughs in abeyance if the union gave up a contractual cost of living adjustment. (*Id.* at ¶ 15; PWM ¶¶ 24-25.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> References to the "City's RJN" are to the City's request for judicial notice filed with the court of appeal on November 9, 2010.

The City officially implemented its furlough of EAA's members on July 5, 2009. (AA 1:3; PWM  $\P$  27.) No other City employees were furloughed.

# C. Petitioner's Members Filed Numerous Individual Grievances Seeking Arbitration, All of Which the City Denied and Refused to Arbitrate

The City's implementation of the furloughs as to EAA members contravened the express wage and hour provisions of the parties' MOUs. The MOUs provide for 40-hour workweeks in Article 5.1, and the salary schedules referenced in Article 6.1 are based on 2080 hour work years—the equivalent of 52 weeks of 40 hours. (See, e.g., AA 1:112-114.) Based on the plain language of the MOUs, EAA-represented employees understood their full-time employment was 40 hours a week. Yet, under the City's furlough plan, the workweeks and pay of EAA-represented employees were decreased. Instead of being paid for 80 hours per pay period, their work hours and pay were reduced to 72 hours per pay period. (AA 1919.)

Annualized, the furloughs resulted in a 10% reduction in pay. (Id.)

Accordingly, approximately 400 EAA-represented employees filed grievances<sup>4</sup> under the MOUs on the grounds that the City's furlough program violated the contractually-obligated salary under Article 6.1 and 40-hour workweek in Article 5.1. (AA 2:340 – 7:1648.) The City denied the grievances at each level of review and refused to arbitrate them, asserting *inter alia* that the City's authorization of the furloughs was not subject to the MOUs' grievance and arbitration procedures, and that the decision to set work schedules was an exclusive management right. (*Id.*; see also PWM ¶ 30.)

# D. The Trial Court Granted EAA's Petition to Compel Arbitration Pursuant to the MOUs' Arbitration Provision

On April 29, 2010, EAA filed the underlying action seeking an order compelling arbitration of the grievances. (AA 1:1-78.) In opposition, the City principally argued that the MOUs' management rights clause contained in Article 1.9 permitted the City to take necessary actions to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> EAA also filed an Unfair Employee Relations Practice ("UERP") Charge on June 15, 2009 with the City's Employment Relations Board ("ERB") contesting the unilateral implementation of furloughs. (PWM ¶ 22.) On April 25, 2011, the ERB tentatively found the City's refusal to bargain the decision to impose furloughs violated the ERO, but it awarded no money on a failure to mitigate theory. Separately, and to preserve the status quo, EAA filed an application for a temporary restraining order with the superior court on July 9, 2009. (PWM ¶ 28 [L.A. Superior Court Case No. BC417398].) The application was denied and EAA subsequently abandoned its appeal from that denial and dismissed the action. (AA 9:1888-1893.)

carry out its mission in emergencies and that its imposition of furloughs was, thus, outside the scope of the parties' arbitration agreement. (AA 9:1831-1835; AA 1:93 [Article 1.9].) EAA responded that the parties' arbitration clause was sufficiently broad to encompass this dispute and, further, that consideration of the City's defenses to arbitration impermissibly required a determination of the underlying merits of the grievances. (AA 9:1933, 1937-1938.)

On September 16, 2010, the trial court issued an order compelling arbitration, agreeing with EAA that the underlying grievances were fully within the scope of the MOUs' arbitration provisions and were, thus, arbitrable. (AA 9:1961-1965.) It also declined to address the City's defenses because they went to the merits of the grievances. (See AA 9:1963-1964.)

E. On the City's Petition for Writ of Mandate, the Court of Appeal Reversed, Finding the City Had No Authority to Agree to Binding Arbitration Over Furloughs Because It Would Constitute an "Unlawful Delegation" of Policy-Making Powers

The City filed a Petition for Writ of Mandate with the Second District Court of Appeal on November 10, 2010, arguing—for the first time—that the MOUs could not require arbitration of the City's non-delegable powers. On March 25, 2011, the court of appeal granted the petition in a published decision, effectively reversing the trial court's arbitration order. (See Slip Op. at p. 3.)

The court examined whether, as the parties argued, sections 1.9 (the management rights clause) and 3.1 (the arbitration clause) of the MOUs permitted arbitration of the City's decision to furlough employees, but found that the MOUs were "ambiguous" on this point.<sup>5</sup> (*Id.* at pp. 6-8. 13-17.) The court noted that although ordinarily it would remand to the trial court for consideration of extrinsic evidence, "it is unnecessary to do so as we will conclude that even if the MOU provided that the decision to furlough employees in a fiscal emergency was subject to arbitration, such a provision would be an improper delegation of the City Council's discretionary power." (Id. at pp. 18-19 [italics original].)

According to the court of appeal, the City could not lawfully agree to arbitration of the matter because the City's "decision to impose mandatory furloughs due to a fiscal emergency is an exercise of the City Council's discretionary salary setting and budget making authority" and "the City Council cannot delegate this authority to an arbitrator." (*Id.* at p. 23.) In support, it relied principally on San Francisco Fire Fighters v. City

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Preliminarily, the court determined the issue of arbitrability was one for the courts because the MOUs "did not clearly and unmistakably assign the issue to the arbitrator." (Slip Op. at pp. 3-5.) EAA does not challenge that determination here.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The court thus assumed, without deciding, that "in the MOUs, which the City Council ratified, the City Council had agreed that its decision to furlough employees due to a lack of funds would be subject to review by an arbitrator." (Id. at p. 7.) EAA does not challenge that determination here.

and County of San Francisco (1977) 68 Cal.App.3d 896, a case the court characterized as involving a city's "surrender, via the MOU, [of its] powers and duties to prescribe rules and regulations over the fire department to an arbitrator." (See Slip. Op. at pp. 21-22.)

It dismissed the distinction between "grievance arbitration" and "interest arbitration," which EAA raised because it was purportedly:

an elevation of terms over substance. The issue is not whether the Union is seeking arbitration of a grievance (and thus "grievance arbitration"), but whether the Union is seeking arbitration of policy matters left to the discretion of the City Council. Interest arbitration is problematic from a delegation point of view because it impacts policy matters, not because it is called interest arbitration.

(*Id.* at p. 24.)

The court discussed the relief sought in the employees' grievances and concluded that "it is clear that the Union is seeking to have an arbitrator determine issues of discretionary policy-making which have been assigned to the City Council" because "[t]he Union wants a determination made that the City *violated* the salary and workweek provisions of the MOU by instituting furloughs . . . ." (*Id.* at p. 25 [italics original].) Hence, the court reasoned, even if the City had agreed to arbitral review of its decision to furlough employees, "such a decision . . . would have been an improper delegation of its salary setting and budget making powers." (*Id.*)

EAA did not seek rehearing as it would have been futile.

#### IV

#### REASONS FOR GRANTING THE PETITION

The court of appeal's sweeping decision bars grievance arbitration of disputes arising from the interpretation and/or application of collective bargaining agreements whenever such arbitration relates to a public employer's "discretionary policy-making," which could easily be construed so broadly as to eliminate grievance arbitration altogether. The decision creates a broad and unacknowledged exception to the bedrock principle that a collective bargaining agreement is binding on the parties (Glendale City Employees' Association v. City of Glendale (1975) 15

Cal.3d 328, 332) and will have detrimental effects on labor-management relations throughout California, because it creates a path for public employers to legislate their way out of MOUs and to insulate themselves from arbitral review and possibly even judicial review.

The court of appeal's decision deprives public employees of the speedy and cost-effective benefits of grievance arbitration over the meaning of their MOUs. But this Court has long favored arbitration of labor disputes. (*Posner v. Grunwald-Marx, Inc.* (1961) 56 Cal.2d 169, 184.) If left uncorrected, the decision below will strip public employees of important statutory rights guaranteed to them under state law, divest them of a crucial means of resolving labor disputes peacefully, and create

disharmony in public sector labor-management relations at a time of extraordinary pressures on public entities and their employees.

This case presents the ideal vehicle to decide this important issue. There is no dispute the parties have an effective and binding MOU, that it contains a broad arbitration clause conforming to the City's employment resolution ordinance, and that the City already exercised its policymaking discretion to impose furloughs. The narrow question presented is whether, under this Court's precedents, that decision is lawfully subject to review, whether in arbitration or a court of law.

#### $\mathbf{V}$

REVIEW IS WARRANTED BECAUSE THE COURT OF APPEAL'S DECISION UPENDS EXISTING LAW AND EVISCERATES GRIEVANCE ARBITRATION OF DISPUTES ARISING FROM THE INTERPRETATION OF COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENTS

The court of appeal's decision cannot be reconciled with existing California public sector labor relations law, which (1) establishes that state law regulates collective bargaining procedures at the city level, (2) dictates that cities may lawfully agree to arbitrate disputes arising from the interpretation and application of MOUs, and (3) firmly distinguishes "grievance arbitration" (which is at the heart of this case) from "interest arbitration" (which is not). The decision is divorced from necessary context, and eliminates a contracted-for procedural right—grievance arbitration—from the MOUs in this case and throughout the state.

#### A. Collective Bargaining is a Matter of Statewide Concern Regulated by the MMBA

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