No. S192828 (2<sup>nd</sup> Civil No. B228732) (L.A.S.C. Case No. BS126192)

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

CITY OF LOS ANGELES, and DOES 1 through 50, inclusive,

SUPREME COURT
FILED

Petitioner,

VS.

MAY 2 5 2011

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES,

Respondents,

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk



ENGINEERS AND ARCHITECTS ASSOCIATION,

Petitioner and Real Party in Interest.

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Three, Case No. B228732

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

CARMEN A. TRUTANICH, City Attorney (SBN 86629x)
ZNA PORTLOCK HOUSTON, Senior
Assistant City Attorney
JANIS LEVART BARQUIST,

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

This lawsuit arises out of the City's attempt to solve its serious and unexpected budget crisis. Prior to establishing and implementing the furlough plan, the City gave EAA, and all of its other civilian unions, notice of its fiscal emergency and an opportunity to help solve the problems. Prior to implementing the furlough plan, the City offered to negotiate the effects of the furloughs. EAA refused to engage productively in these negotiations, and rejected every opportunity to avoid furloughs and/or layoffs. The factual background, the history of the City's negotiations with its unions,

including EAA, relating to why and how the City imposed furloughs, as well as the statutory and Los Angeles City Charter (Charter) framework is fully set forth in the City's Petition for Writ of Mandate (PWM) and will not be repeated in its entirety here.

The City's budgetary authority and obligations are set forth in its Charter. In addition to obligating the City Council to adopt a yearly balanced budget, and set employee salaries, the Charter obligates the City Controller to determine, prior to approving any demand on the City Treasury, that "the appropriation for the goods or services has been made." Charter §262. These limitations apply to employee salary expenditures. See Charter §\$212, 310-315, 320. See PWM ¶¶ 5-7.

## B. The City of Los Angeles Attempted to Negotiate a Solution Prior to Acting Unilaterally.

The City attempted to engage City unions, including EAA, in negotiations designed to deal with the burgeoning budgetary problem beginning in 2008. While other unions agreed to discuss remedies for the budgetary problems, EAA declined to attend any of the meetings and refused to discuss such matters with City management. PWM ¶¶ 8-12.

In 2009, the City faced an approximately \$530 million General Fund deficit for the 2009-2010 Fiscal Year that had to be addressed to balance the City's budget. PWM ¶ 13.

On May 12, 2009, the Mayor asked City Council to declare a fiscal emergency, and to adopt an urgency ordinance allowing City management to implement reduced workweeks. That same day, the City Administrative Officer (CAO), the City's official labor negotiator, advised City unions, including EAA, in writing of the proposed furlough plan. EAA did not respond. PWM ¶¶ 14, 15.

On May 18, 2009, the City Council adopted both the Emergency Resolution and the Reduced Work Schedule Ordinance. PWM ¶ 16, 17.

On May 22, 2009, the CAO invited EAA to negotiate over the impacts of the proposed furlough plan. EAA did not respond. PWM ¶ 18.

The Fiscal Year 2009-2010 (FY 09-10) budget significantly reduced salary expenditure appropriations and assumed that civilian employees would be subject to 26 mandatory, unpaid furlough days. PWM ¶ 19.

The CAO met with many of the City's civilian unions on June 5, 2009 in an effort to identify cost-saving alternatives to furloughs, and to discuss the impacts of the furlough plan. EAA did not attend this meeting. PWM ¶ 20.

EAA refused to meet prior to June 18, 2009 and rejected the CAO's offer to attend meetings starting June 15, 2009 regarding the impacts of individual department furlough implementation plans. PWM ¶ 21.

On June 15, 2009, EAA filed Unfair Employee Relations Practice (UERP) Charge No. 1768 with the City's Employee Relations Board (ERB). This charge alleged that the City's decision to impose mandatory furloughs was unlawful. PWM ¶ 22.

No agreements were reached between the City and EAA on June 18, 2009. PWM ¶ 23.

On June 26, 2009, City's representatives again met with EAA. The City suggested that EAA agree to a short term deferral of the July 1, 2009 contractual cost of living allowances (COLAs) to create an opportunity to negotiate cost-saving alternatives to furloughs. In exchange, the City offered to defer furloughs for EAA employees

during the negotiating period. EAA rejected the City's offer. PWM ¶ 25.

## C. Furloughs Were Implemented Beginning in July, 2009 for Many Civilian Employees, Not only EAA Represented Employees.

On July 1, 2009, the contractual COLAs for EAA members were implemented and on July 5, 2009, mandatory furloughs for EAA represented employees in the amount of 8 hours per two week pay periods were also implemented. Other civilian employees who were either unrepresented or represented by non-Coalition, non EAA, unions were also furloughed pursuant to the City Council action. Under a negotiated cost saving agreement, Coalition represented employees were furloughed 3.5 hours per pay period in fiscal year 2009-2010. PWM ¶¶ 24, 26, 27.

EAA filed a Complaint for a Declaratory Judgment and an Application for a Temporary Restraining Order on July 9, 2009. *EAA* v. City of Los Angeles, Los Angeles Superior Court Case No. BC417398. The Complaint sought a declaratory judgment that the

Coalition of City Unions (Coalition" unions) represented employees were furloughed in accordance with an agreement their unions negotiated, beginning in the fall of 2009. See PWM ¶ 24. For these employees, the number of furloughs was reduced because those employees made other salary concessions, reducing the need for unpaid furloughs. EAA had rejected the concept of salary concessions.

furloughs violated the wage and hour provisions of the MOUs. The application sought a TRO to prevent the City from imposing the mandatory furloughs. The application for a TRO was denied. Thereafter EAA filed an appeal from that decision, but never perfected the appeal. Ultimately, EAA dismissed the complaint. PWM ¶ 28.

EAA members filed approximately 408 individual grievances challenging the City Council imposed mandatory furloughs. The City denied the grievances on multiple grounds including that the Council action authorizing the implementation of the furloughs was not subject to the MOU grievance and arbitration procedure, and that EAA's decision to file UERP No. 1768 prior to the filing of individual grievances, constituted a waiver of the right to arbitrate the furlough dispute under the MOUs. PWM ¶¶ 29, 30.

On or about April 29, 2010, EAA filed the underlying action, BS 126192, seeking an order compelling the arbitration of the approximately 408 grievances. PWM ¶ 31.

D. EAA MOUS Contain Provisions Recognizing the City's Right to Act in an Emergency, Limiting the Subject of EAA Grievances When the City Acts Pursuant to These Rights, and Limiting EAA's Right to File Multiple Actions Concerning the Same Subject Matters.

The EAA MOUs contains a provision expressly recognizing the City's management right "to take all necessary actions to maintain uninterrupted service to the community and to carry out its mission in emergencies [.]" That provision also expressly provides that "... the exercise of these rights does not preclude employees and their representatives from consulting or raising grievances about the *practical consequences that decisions* on these matters may have on wages, hours and other terms and conditions of employment." thus limiting grievances concerning such decisions to complaints about the practical consequences of emergency decisions.

The MOU grievance and arbitration procedure contains an election of remedies provision. Article 3.1, Section II.A. provides:

Where a matter within the scope of this grievance procedure is alleged to be both a grievance and an unfair labor practice under the jurisdiction of the Employee Relations Board, the employee may elect to pursue the matter under either the grievance procedure herein provided, or by action before the Employee Relations Board. The employee's election of either procedure shall constitute a binding election of the remedy chosen and a waiver of the alternate remedy.

Because EAA's UERP filing in June, 2009 predated the filing of the 408 grievances, its filing constituted a binding election of forum and a "waiver of the alternate remedy" being sought in this proceeding.

## E. The Procedural History Includes EAA's Three Attempts to Overturn the City Council's Budgetary Authority to Impose Furloughs.

This law suit is EAA's third attempt to overturn the City's efforts at balancing its budget through the use of mandatory employee furloughs.

## 1. The UERP Charge Decision Upheld the City's Right to Unilaterally Implement the Furloughs.

EAA's original action was UERP Charge No. 1768. The Charge went to hearing. (See document nos. 01728, 1762-1787, ¶ 427). The ERB's hearing officer issued a proposed decision and a supplementary report in that action. (See ex. 13 to Second Request for Judicial Notice (FJN), nos. 01895-1930). The ERB adopted the Hearing Officer's conclusion that the unilateral implementation of furloughs pursuant to the fiscal emergency was permissible under the

Employee Relations Ordinance (ERO) and the Meyers Milias Brown Act (MMBA) and was not an unfair employee relations practice.<sup>2</sup>

### 2. The Complaint for Declaratory Relief.

EAA made a second choice of forum when it filed its complaint in Superior Court. The complaint for declaratory judgment and application for a temporary restraining order is *EAA v. City of Los Angeles*, *supra*, BC417398, filed on July 9, 2009. Among the causes of action in the Complaint was a claim that the implementation of furloughs was in violation of the wage and hour provisions of EAA's MOUs – the exact same issue raised by the grievances at issue in this proceeding. Ultimately, EAA dismissed that action. PWM ¶¶ 28, 33.

## 3. The Emergency Furlough Grievances.

Beginning in July, 2009, EAA members filed approximately 408 individual grievances with their departments challenging the City Council imposed mandatory furloughs. PWM ¶ 29, 30.

The Departments denied the grievances on a number of grounds, including the ground that the grievance procedure did not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Under the MMBA, the City has authority to establish its own labor board with jurisdiction over City unions and allegations of UERPs. Government Code §3509(d). The City's ERB is established pursuant to the City's Employee Relations Ordinance (ERO) Los Angeles Administrative Code ("LAAC") §§4.800-4.890.

extent to Council budgetary actions and that the filing of UERP No. 1768 waived the right to pursue grievances on the same subject matter. PWM ¶¶ 29, 33, 34.

The MOUs' grievance and arbitration provisions contain detailed procedures for handling internal departmental disputes. However, the MOUs and the grievance procedure apply to individual City departments and their respective employees *vis a vis* each other. The grievance process is available only when an employee of a particular department is challenging an action taken by his or her employing department over which that particular department has actual control. Thus, the grievance provisions are not available to employees challenging decisions taken by City officials external to their own employing department *SEIU v. City of Los Angeles, DOT*, (1994) 24 Cal.App.4th 136, 144-145.

## 4. The Petition to Compel Arbitration.

On or about April 29, 2010, EAA filed the underlying action, BS 126192, seeking an order compelling the arbitration of the approximately 408 grievances. PWM ¶ 31.

The City filed a Response to the Petition to Compel Arbitration which included multiple affirmative defenses. Among other things,

the defenses denied the existence of an agreement to arbitrate the City Council actions at issue, raised the election of remedies defense, the waiver defense, and asked the Court to dismiss the action. (See Response to Petition to Compel Arbitration, documents nos. 01649, 01727-01731.) The trial court granted the petition to compel arbitration, concluding that the issue of furloughs fell within the definition of a grievance found in article 3.1 of the MOUs. The City filed a petition for writ of mandate, challenging the trial court's order compelling arbitration.

## F. The Court of Appeal's Opinion.

Division Three of the Second Appellate District granted the City's petition for writ of mandate and remanded to the trial court for further proceedings. *City of Los Angeles v. Superior Court (EAA)* 193 Cal.App.4th 1159 (2011) (*COLA v. Superior Court [EAA]*)

First, the Court of Appeal rejected the Union's argument that the arbitrator should determine whether the emergency furlough grievances were arbitrable, holding that "[w]ith no clear and unmistakable provision that the arbitrator determines arbitrability, the issue is one for the courts." *Id.* at 1168.

**Second,** the Court of Appeal ruled that the applicable MOU is ambiguous as to whether the emergency furloughs are arbitrable, stating "If these were the only circumstances, we would remand to the trial court for a determination of whether the language in article 1.9 of the MOU, exempting certain management decisions from arbitration, applies to furloughs." *Id.* at 1172.

Third, the Court of Appeal rejected EAA's claim that arbitration of the emergency furlough grievances would not require an arbitrator to engage in fiscal policymaking, holding: "As the decision to impose mandatory furloughs due to a fiscal emergency is an exercise of the City Council's discretionary salary setting and budget making authority, the City Council cannot delegate this authority to an arbitrator." *Id.* at 1175.

# III. REVIEW IN THIS CASE IS NOT WARRANTED UNDER ANY OF THE CIRCUMSTANCES SET FORTH IN RULE 8.500 OF THE CALIFORNIA RULES OF COURT.

California Rules of Court 8.500, subdivision (b) sets out four circumstances in which review by this Court is warranted: (1) when necessary to secure uniformity of decision or to settle an important question of law; (2) when the Court of Appeal lacked jurisdiction; (3)

when the Court of Appeal decision lacked the concurrence of sufficient qualified justices; and (4) for the purpose of transferring the matter to the Court of Appeal for such proceedings as the Supreme Court may order.

EAA appears to invoke the first circumstance by arguing that review should be granted to settle an important question of law regarding the enforceability of grievance arbitration over MOU wage and hour provisions. (PFR, pp. 1, 13). EAA also appears to be arguing that review is necessary to ensure uniformity of decision, asserting the Court of Appeal's decision cannot be reconciled with existing California public sector labor relations law. (PFR p. 14). As the ensuing discussion will demonstrate, there is no reason to grant review under either theory.

Contrary to EAA's assertion, there is no need to settle an issue of law or to secure uniformity of decisions regarding public policy and arbitration. The Court of the Appeal did not, as EAA contends, create a "sweeping exception" to grievance arbitration agreements. Rather, the Court of Appeal correctly concluded that, under the particular circumstances in this case, arbitration of the City Council's budgetary act to impose furloughs pursuant to a declaration of fiscal

emergency would amount to an improper delegation of discretionary policy-making power vested exclusively in the City Council. This decision is consistent with nearly one hundred years of settled case law.

As to the second ground, the Court of Appeal's decision does not, as EAA asserts, contradict this Court's decisions in Taylor v. Crane (1979) 24 Cal.3d 442 (Taylor), or Glendale City Employees' Assn, Inc. v. City of Glendale (1975) 15 Cal.3d 328 (Glendale). Taylor involved the grievance arbitration of an individual employee's disciplinary dismissal. It did not involve arbitration of legislative public policy choices or concern a city council's ability to manage its financial affairs in a fiscal emergency. Glendale involved neither arbitration nor any delegation. There, city officials ignored a collective bargaining agreement without any legally cognizable reason to consider it invalid. It did not consider whether a public employer could, within an MOU, lawfully delegate to an arbitrator its discretionary fiscal policy making authority or its authority to make new discretionary policy choices pursuant to the MMBA.

# IV. REVIEW IN THIS CASE IS NOT WARRANTED BECAUSE THE COURT OF APPEAL'S DECISION IS FULLY CONSISTENT WITH EXISTING LAW.

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